UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN MILWAUKEE DIVISION

Igor Zapadinsky, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

2:23-cv-00231

Plaintiff,

- against -

Class Action Complaint

Blue Diamond Growers,

Jury Trial Demanded

Defendant

Plaintiff alleges upon information and belief, except for allegations about Plaintiff, which are based on personal knowledge:

1. Blue Diamond Growers ("Defendant") manufactures and sells almonds represented as made in a smokehouse ("Product").





- 2. The relevant front label representations include pictures of what appear to be smoked almonds, "Blue Diamond Almonds" and "Smokehouse," across a red ribbon with glowing orange borders, coloring evocative of fire.
- Contrary to the front label, the Product is not made in a smokehouse, which misleads 3. consumers.

I. **SMOKING PROCESS**

- 4. Smoking is a method to prepare and preserve food by cooking it over a fire containing various kinds of wood chips, exposing it to smoke.
- 5. The drying action of the smoke and the different phenol compounds help to preserve protein-rich foods such as meat, cheese, almonds, and fish.
- 6. The origins of smoking date to prehistory, as nomadic peoples experimented with fire upon raw foods, like nuts and cheeses.
- 7. The earliest record of smoked nuts comes from ancient times, when an owner of a cheese and nut shop was forced to share space in the macellum with a baker.1
- 8. It was learned that wood provides unique and powerful flavors, based on the type used.
- 9. For example, wood chips from deciduous hardwood trees of the genus Carya, hickory, provide hearty and sweet flavors to nuts ("hickory").
- Pecan wood gives nuts a spicy taste while oak gives smoked flavors of moderate 10. intensity.

¹ Macellum is the Italian name for the farmer's markets of ancient Roman that sold freshly made foods.

II. "SMOKEHOUSE" DESCRIBES A PHYSICAL STRUCTURE FOR SMOKING **FOODS**

- The center of the front packaging contains the word "Smokehouse®" in large font. 11.
- 12. The word "smokehouse" is a noun that describes a physical structure where food is prepared through the process of using actual smoke.
 - 13. This is confirmed by numerous dictionary definitions.
- Merriam-Webster defines a smokehouse as "[A] building where meat or fish is cured 14. by means of dense smoke."
- 15. The Oxford English Dictionary Online defines it as "[A] house or room used for curing meat, fish, etc., by means of smoke."
- Collins Dictionary defines it as "a building, esp. an outbuilding on a farm, where 16. meats, fish, etc. are cured by smoke."
- 17. Google Dictionary, based on its leading search engine which is designed to deliver the most relevant and accurate results, defines a smokehouse as "a shed or room for curing food by exposure to smoke."
- 18. The Britannica Dictionary defines it as "a shed or room for curing food by exposure to smoke."
- 19. In an industrial smoking process, foods, such as almonds, are put on a large tray and slid into an enclosed structure, referred to as a smokehouse.

CONSUMERS VALUE FOODS MADE THROUGH NATURAL PROCESSES LIKE III. SMOKING IN A SMOKEHOUSE

The popularity of using smokehouses to smoke foods decreased in the mid-twentieth

century due to the introduction of chemical preservatives and artificial smoke flavorings.²

- However, consumer research company Mintel determined that the last two decades have seen a resurgence in consumer demand for foods made through natural processes, like in a smokehouse, without advanced chemistry and synthetic ingredients.
- This is due to regular media reports of potentially dangerous and environmentally harmful substances in foods, due to the work of non-profits such as the Environmental Working Group ("EWG").
- This is especially true in the context of foods promoted as smoked or made in a smokehouse, as the European Food Safety Authority ("EFSA") confirmed that smoke flavorings contain compounds at levels high enough to pose a toxic risk when consumed.
 - Added smoke flavor is not only an issue of consumer health, but of quality and value. 24.
- 25. Whether a food has been smoked over hardwoods or contains liquid smoke, prepared by pyrolysis of sawdust, is basic front label information consumers rely on when making quick purchasing decisions at the grocery store.
- Research by Innova Market Insights confirmed that consumers look to see if the front label has any statement about a product's flavor, because they prefer foods which get their taste from the natural processes by which the food is prepared, such as in a smokehouse.

IV. BEYOND **MISLEADING** CONSUMERS, THE LABELING **VIOLATES** RELEVANT REGULATIONS

- Beyond misleading consumers to expect almonds prepared in a smokehouse, the labeling does not comply with federal and identical state regulations.
 - 28. The Product makes "direct or indirect representations" about its primary or

² Matthew Sedacca, Liquid Smoke: The History Behind a Divisive Culinary Shortcut – Barbecue's love/hate relationship with the manufactured flavor, Eater.com, Jun 15, 2016.

"characterizing" flavor of smoke, through the word, "Smokehouse," a noun, and the red and orange coloring, evocative of fire. 21 C.F.R. § 101.22.

- 29. According to the well-respected regulatory attorney Bob Holmes, these rules are "premised on the simple notion that consumers value 'the real thing' versus a close substitute and should be able to rely on the label to readily distinguish between the two. This consumer protection objective is relevant to taste claims conveyed in advertising as well."³
- Hon. H. C. Adams, a Wisconsin Food Commissioner before representing this State's 30. Second Congressional District, was critical of foods labeled as being smoked "that smoke never touched and which obtained their color and flavor from a poisonous solution called 'liquid smoke."
- 31. When the FDA enacted the regulations for flavoring, they followed Adams' guidance, and considered it misleading to describe nuts as "smoked" when "true smoke is absorbed in a liquid or other medium, and that medium is added to a food to provide a smoke flavor."
- Where a food's flavor does not come exclusively from a characterizing ingredient or processing method, but contains natural flavor derived from that ingredient or processing method, this must be disclosed to consumers on the front label, in addition to on the ingredient list. See 21 C.F.R. § 101.22(i); ATCP 90.10 (1) ("food sold or distributed for sale in this state shall be labeled in compliance with applicable rules adopted by the United States food and drug administration under 21 CFR 101, 102, 104, 105, and 130.").
- The representation of the Product with the term "Smokehouse" violates 21 U.S.C. § 343(a)(1) and ch. 97.03 ("Standards; misbranding."), which deem food misbranded when the label

Steven Steinborn, Hogan & Hartson LLP, Regulations: Making Taste Claims, PreparedFoods.com, August 11, 2006.

contains a statement that is "false or misleading in any particular."

- In evaluating whether a product's labeling is misleading, federal and state regulations consider not only the statements made but also the extent to which the labeling fails to reveal material facts in light of such representations. Ch. 97.07 ("Interpretation.").
- 35. The statement of "Smokehouse" with red and orange coloring fails to reveal the almonds have no connection to being smoked over hardwoods, neither in a smokehouse or anywhere else.
- 36. As the almonds are represented as made in a smokehouse, even though they are not, and contain added liquid smoke flavoring, this must be disclosed to consumers on the front label.
- The FDA has repeatedly warned companies that not disclosing the source of a food's smoked taste is misleading:

If these smoke ingredients [natural smoke flavor] are added flavors, they should be declared in accordance with 21 CFR 101.22 [on the front of the label]; however, if these ingredients describe the smoking process, then they must not be listed as ingredients in the ingredient statement.⁴

- 38. The FDA has cautioned that a label "should not include the term 'smoked" or similar variations which misrepresent whether a food was subject to smoking, such as in a smokehouse.
- 39. Instead, foods that are not made in a smokehouse should contain a prominent statement such as "with added smoke flavor," 'smoke flavored,' or with 'natural smoke flavor."

"SMOKEHOUSE" IS MISLEADING BECAUSE PRODUCT NOT MADE IN A V. **SMOKEHOUSE**

The sole meaning of "Smokehouse" goes directly to the fire-infused process by 40.

⁴ FDA, Warning Letter, Smoked Seafood, Inc. dba Little Mermaid Smokehouse, MARCS-CMS 515739, June 27, 2017; FDA, Warning Letter, Walnut Creek Kitchens, Inc., CIN-15-436857-08, Nov. 27, 2014.

which a food is prepared, without any qualifying or clarifying language.

- Though the term "Smokehouse" has a small trademark designation next to it, this 41. fails to put consumers on notice that the Product is not smoked in a smokehouse and gets its smoked taste exclusively from added smoke flavor.
- 42. There is no reason to expect that because a representation may carry a trademark registration that it should mean the thing described is false or that it is necessarily fanciful.
 - 43. Consumers will reasonably expect the Product to have been made in a smokehouse.
 - 44. However, the Product has not been subjected to any smoking.
- 45. The ingredients include "NATURAL HICKORY SMOKE FLAVOR," which is defined as "smoke condensed into a liquid form."

INGREDIENTS: ALMONDS, VEGETABLE OIL (CANOLA SAFFLOWER AND/OR SUNFLOWER), SALT, CORN MALTODEXTRIN, NATURAL HICKORY SMOKE FLAVOR, YEAST, HYDROLYZED CORN AND SOY PROTEIN, NATURAL FLAVORS.

INGREDIENTS: ALMONDS, VEGETABLE OIL (CANOLA, SAFFLOWER AND/OR SUNFLOWER), SALT, CORN MALTODEXTRIN, NATURAL HICKORY SMOKE FLAVOR, YEAST, HYDROLYZED CORN AND SOY PROTEIN, NATURAL FLAVORS.

The Product uses "NATURAL HICKORY SMOKE FLAVOR" to try and make the 46. almonds taste like they were made in a smokehouse, even though they were not.

VI. REAL SMOKED ALMONDS ARE COMMON FOOD

Almonds prepared in a smokehouse are not a rare or pricy delicacy that would make 47. a reasonable consumer doubt the veracity of the "Smokehouse" claim by reviewing the fine print of the ingredient list.

- Even if Plaintiff and consumers viewed the ingredient list, they would have no reason to know that listing "natural hickory smoke flavor" forecloses the possibility the Product was also subject to smoking in a smokehouse.
- 49. Numerous non-professional food websites describe the simple process of preparing authentic smoked almonds.
- 50. These steps include (1) soaking in a brine solution, followed by (2) roasting in oils and (3) deposited into a wire mesh basket and inserted into a smoker for several hours.
- Almonds that are smoked in a smokehouse exist in the marketplace and are not technologically or otherwise unfeasible to produce and consume, shown by the example below of Hickory Smoked Almonds, printed across an image of a smokehouse.



These products are labeled identically to the Smokehouse Almonds, yet the latter is 52. not smoked and has added smoke flavor, while the former are smoked over hickory woods in a smokehouse.

53. Where almonds have a smoked taste not from being prepared in a smokehouse, but due to added smoke flavor, competitor brands truthfully disclose this fact on the front label, such as "Smoked Almonds – Naturally Flavored" (Planters) and "Natural Smoke Flavored Almonds With Other Natural Flavors" (Walmart Great Value brand) in contrast to Defendant's "Smokehouse Almonds" (left) *See* 21 C.F.R. § 101.22(i)(1)(i); 21 C.F.R. § 101.22(i)(1)(iii).







- 54. The disclosure on a front label of whether a food is smoked in a smokehouse or only has added smoke flavor is basic information on which consumers rely when making quick purchasing decisions at the store.
 - 55. Consumers are misled because the absence of qualifying terms with "Smokehouse,"

such as "naturally flavored" or "natural smoke flavored almonds" gives them the false impression the Product was made in a smokehouse.

VII. ADDED SMOKE FLAVOR IS NOT EQUIVALENT TO BEING MADE IN A **SMOKEHOUSE**

- Though the Product is not made in a smokehouse, it adds "NATURAL HICKORY SMOKE FLAVOR" to make consumers think it was made in a smokehouse.
- Scientists concluded that there are at least 400 flavor compounds which are created when foods are made in a smokehouse.
- These include pyrazines, aliphatic, aromatic hydrocarbons, alcohols, organic acids, esters, furans, phenols, carbonyl and non-carbonyl compounds, and various oxygen- and nitrogencontaining heterocyclic compounds.
- 59. Added smoke flavor is unable to make the Product taste like it was made in a smokehouse for several reasons.
- 60. First, added smoke flavoring lacks the delicate balance of phenolic compounds, including 2,3-Butanedione, 2,3-Pentanedione, 3-Butanoic acid, 3-Methylbutanoic acid, 4-Ethylguaiacol, 4-Propylguaiacol and/or 4-Vinylguaiacol.
- Second, inside a smokehouse, the smoke generation process dramatically influences the wood-smoke chemical composition, generating compounds that are not capable of being included in a "natural smoke flavor," like trans-isoeugenol and 4-methylsyringol.
- When foods like almonds are exposed to volatiles and particulate matter in a 62. smokehouse, they undergo chemical reactions which form new flavor compounds.
- 63. Third, certain compounds only serve as intermediates in the formation of more stable forms of compounds which are essential to the aroma of smoke.
 - 64. Fourth, in most systems which seek to emulate a smokehouse, there is only a focus

on volatile compounds which are believed to have distinctive odor properties at low concentrations.

65. This overlooks that nonvolatile compounds significantly contribute to smoke flavor.

VIII. CONCLUSION

- 66. Defendant makes other representations and omissions with respect to the Product which are false and misleading.
- 67. Reasonable consumers must and do rely on a company to honestly and lawfully market and describe the components, attributes, and features of a product, relative to itself and other comparable products or alternatives.
- 68. The value of the Product that Plaintiff purchased was materially less than its value as represented by Defendant.
- 69. Defendant sold more of the Product and at higher prices than it would have in the absence of this misconduct, resulting in additional profits at the expense of consumers.
- 70. Had Plaintiff and proposed class members known the truth, they would not have bought the Product or would have paid less for it.
- 71. As a result of the false and misleading representations, the Product is sold at a premium price, approximately no less than no less than \$1.19. per 1.5 OZ, and correspondingly higher absolute prices when sold in larger sizes, excluding tax and sales, higher than similar products, represented in a non-misleading way, and higher than it would be sold for absent the misleading representations and omissions.

Jurisdiction and Venue

72. Jurisdiction is based on the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 ("CAFA"). 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).

- The aggregate amount in controversy exceeds \$5 million, including any statutory and punitive damages, exclusive of interest and costs.
 - 74. Plaintiff Igor Zapadinsky is a citizen of Wisconsin.
- Defendant Blue Diamond Growers is a California agricultural cooperative with a 75. principal place of business in Sacramento, Sacramento County, California.
- 76. The class of persons Plaintiff seeks to represent includes persons who are citizens of different states from which Defendant is a citizen
- The members of the class Plaintiff seeks to represent are more than 100, because the Product has been sold for several years, with the representations described here, in thousands of locations, in the states covered by Plaintiff's proposed classes.
- 78. The Product is sold in numerous sizes such as individual smaller pouches, large pouches, and tins, with identical representations.
- 79. The Product is available to consumers from third-parties, which includes grocery stores, dollar stores, warehouse club stores, drug stores, convenience stores, big box stores, and/or online, in the States covered by Plaintiff's proposed classes.
- Venue is in this District, with assignment to the Milwaukee Division, because a 80. substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to these claims occurred in Walworth County, including Plaintiff's purchase, transactions, consumption and/or use of the Product and exposure to, awareness and/or experiences of and with the issues described here.

Parties

- 81. Plaintiff Igor Zapadinsky is a citizen of Lake Geneva, Wisconsin, Walworth County.
- 82. Defendant Blue Diamond Growers is a California agricultural cooperative with a principal place of business in Sacramento, California, Sacramento County.

- Defendant is the largest cooperative of almond growers in the world.
- Consumers value Blue Diamond branded almond snacks over competitors, because 84. they know Blue Diamond is responsible for the almonds, which assures them of quality and their products' integrity.
- 85. Plaintiff purchased the Product on one or more occasions within the statutes of limitations for each cause of action alleged, at stores including Costco, 15300 W Grange Ave, New Berlin, Wisconsin between 2021 and the present, and/or among other times.
- Plaintiff believed and expected the Product was made in a smokehouse instead of having added liquid smoke flavor, even though it was not made in a smokehouse because that is what the representations and omissions said and implied.
- Plaintiff relied on the words, terms coloring, descriptions, layout, packaging, and/or images on the Product, on the labeling, statements, omissions, claims, statements, and instructions, made by Defendant or at its directions, in digital, print and/or social media, which accompanied the Product and separately, through in-store, digital, audio, and print marketing.
 - Plaintiff bought the Product at or exceeding the above-referenced price. 88.
- 89. Plaintiff paid more for the Product than he would have had he known it was not made in a smokehouse or with any real smoke, would have paid less or not purchased it.
- 90. Plaintiff chose between Defendant's Product and products represented similarly, but which did not misrepresent their attributes, requirements, features, and/or components.
- 91. The Product was worth less than what Plaintiff paid, and he would not have paid as much absent Defendant's false and misleading statements and omissions.
- 92. Plaintiff intends to, seeks to, and will purchase the Product again when he can do so with the assurance the Product's representations are consistent with its abilities, attributes, and/or

composition.

93. Plaintiff is unable to rely on the labeling and representations not only of this Product,

but other similar almonds represented as smoked, because he is unsure whether those

representations are truthful.

94. Plaintiff is unable to rely on the labeling and representations not only of this Product,

but other nuts represented as being smoked because he is unsure whether those representations are

truthful.

95. If Defendant's labeling were to be truthful, Plaintiff could rely on the labeling of

other nuts represented as being smoked.

Class Allegations

96. Plaintiff seeks certification under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 of the following classes:

> Wisconsin Class: All persons in the State of Wisconsin who purchased the Product during the statutes of limitations for each cause of action alleged; and

> Consumer Fraud Multi-State Class: All persons in the Puerto Rico, U.S. Virgin Islands, American Samoa, Guam, and Arizona who purchased the Product during the statutes of limitations for each cause of action alleged.

97. Common questions of issues, law, and fact predominate and include whether Defendant's representations were and are misleading and if Plaintiff and class members are entitled to damages.

Plaintiff's claims and basis for relief are typical to other members because all were 98. subjected to the same unfair, misleading, and deceptive representations, omissions, and actions.

99. Plaintiff is an adequate representative because his interests do not conflict with other members.

- 100. No individual inquiry is necessary since the focus is only on Defendant's practices and the class is definable and ascertainable.
- 101. Individual actions would risk inconsistent results, be repetitive and are impractical to justify, as the claims are modest relative to the scope of the harm.
- 102. Plaintiff's counsel is competent and experienced in complex class action litigation and intends to protect class members' interests adequately and fairly.
 - 103. Plaintiff seeks class-wide injunctive relief because the practices continue.

Wisconsin Unfair Trade Practices Act ("UTPA"), Wis. Stat. § 100.20 (Wisconsin Class)

- 104. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs.
- 105. The representations on the Product constitute an advertisement to the public.
- 106. Wisconsin and federal regulations require that any food which has a primary recognizable flavor disclose the source of that flavor on the front label, so consumers can see it.
- 107. Violations of Chapter ATCP 90 are subject to the penalties and remedies of 100.20(5).5
- 108. In its order promulgating chapter ATCP 90, DATCP stated that "Under [Wis. Stat. §] 97.09(1), ... federal rules related to food definitions and standards of [] quality [] are automatically enforceable under state law."
- 109. Wis. Stat. § 100.20(5) permits "[A]ny person suffering pecuniary loss because of a violation by any other person of any order issued under this section may sue for damages therefor in any court of competent jurisdiction."
 - 110. Defendant violates § ATCP 90.02(1) because the Product's declaration of

⁵ Note, Chapter ATCP 90.

"Smokehouse" is not the Product's "common or usual name," "legally required name," or an "appropriate description that is readily understood by consumers," because it is not smoked.

- 111. Defendant violates Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 90.02(3) and Wis. Stat. § 97.02 because flavoring components added through smoking almonds over hardwoods are not present in the Product in any amount, rendering the declaration of the Product's identity, "Almonds – Smokehouse," false, deceptive, and misleading.
- 112. Defendant violates Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 90.10(1) because the Product is not labeled in compliance with the applicable FDA rules and regulations, based on violations of 21 C.F.R. §§ 101.22(i)(1)(i).
- 113. The representation of the Product as made in a smokehouse and gets its smoked taste from being smoked violates Wis. Stat. § 100.183(1) and Wis. Stat. § 97.03 because that advertisement is untrue, deceptive or misleading.
- 114. Plaintiff suffered a pecuniary loss due to Defendant's violation of Wis. Admin. Code §§ ATCP 90.02 and 90.10.
- 115. Plaintiff believed the Product was made in a smokehouse instead of having added liquid smoke flavor, even though it was not made in a smokehouse.
- 116. Plaintiff and class members desired to purchase a product with the attributes highlighted by the labeling – a smoked taste from being smoked over hardwoods and not from added smoke flavoring.
- 117. Defendant's false and deceptive representations and omissions are material in that they are likely to influence consumer purchasing decisions.
- 118. Plaintiff relied on the representations and omissions to believe the Product was made in a smokehouse instead of having added liquid smoke flavor, even though it was not made in a

smokehouse.

119. Plaintiff and class members would not have purchased the Product or paid as much if the true facts had been known, suffering damages.

Violation of State Consumer Fraud Acts (Consumer Fraud Multi-State Class)

- 120. The Consumer Fraud Acts of the States in the Consumer Fraud Multi-State Class are similar to the consumer protection statute invoked by Plaintiff and prohibit the use of unfair or deceptive business practices in the conduct of commerce.
- 121. The members of the Consumer Fraud Multi-State Class reserve their rights to assert their consumer protection claims under the Consumer Fraud Acts of the States they represent and/or the consumer protection statute invoked by Plaintiff.
- 122. Defendant intended that members of the Consumer Fraud Multi-State Class would rely upon its deceptive conduct.
- 123. As a result of Defendant's use of artifice, and unfair or deceptive acts or business practices, the members of the Consumer Fraud Multi-State Class sustained damages.
- 124. Defendant's conduct showed motive and a reckless disregard of the truth such that an award of punitive damages is appropriate.

Breaches of Express Warranty, Implied Warranty of Merchantability/Fitness for a Particular Purpose and Magnuson Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, et seq.

- 125. The Product was manufactured, identified, marketed, and sold by Defendant and expressly and impliedly warranted to Plaintiff and class members that it was made in a smokehouse instead of having added liquid smoke flavor, even though it was not made in a smokehouse.
- 126. Defendant directly marketed the Product to Plaintiff and consumers through its advertisements and marketing, through various forms of media, on the packaging, in print

circulars, direct mail, and targeted digital advertising.

- 127. Defendant knew the product attributes that potential customers like Plaintiff were seeking and developed its marketing and labeling to directly meet those needs and desires.
- 128. Defendant's representations about the Product were conveyed in writing and promised it would be defect-free, and Plaintiff understood this meant that it was made in a smokehouse instead of having added liquid smoke flavor, even though it was not made in a smokehouse.
- 129. Defendant's representations affirmed and promised that the Product was made in a smokehouse instead of having added liquid smoke flavor, even though it was not made in a smokehouse.
- 130. Defendant described the Product so Plaintiff and consumers believed it was made in a smokehouse instead of having added liquid smoke flavor, even though it was not made in a smokehouse, which became part of the basis of the bargain that it would conform to its affirmations and promises.
- 131. Defendant had a duty to disclose and/or provide non-deceptive descriptions and marketing of the Product.
- 132. This duty is based on Defendant's outsized role in the market for this type of Product, the leading name in almonds, trusted by consumers to make and sell almond products truthfully.
 - 133. Plaintiff recently became aware of Defendant's breach of the Product's warranties.
- 134. Plaintiff provided or will provide notice to Defendant, its agents, representatives, retailers, and their employees.
- 135. Plaintiff hereby provides notice to Defendant that it breached the express and implied warranties associated with the Product.

- 136. Defendant received notice and should have been aware of these issues due to complaints by third-parties, including regulators, competitors, and consumers, to its main offices, and by consumers through online forums.
- 137. The Product did not conform to its affirmations of fact and promises due to Defendant's actions.
- 138. The Product was not merchantable because it was not fit to pass in the trade as advertised, not fit for the ordinary purpose for which it was intended and did not conform to the promises or affirmations of fact made on the packaging, container or label, because it was marketed as if it was made in a smokehouse instead of having added liquid smoke flavor, even though it was not made in a smokehouse.
- 139. The Product was not merchantable because Defendant had reason to know the particular purpose for which the Product was bought by Plaintiff, because he expected it was made in a smokehouse instead of having added liquid smoke flavor, even though it was not made in a smokehouse, and he relied on Defendant's skill and judgment to select or furnish such a suitable product.
- 140. Plaintiff and class members would not have purchased the Product or paid as much if the true facts had been known, suffering damages.

Negligent Misrepresentation

- 141. Defendant had a duty to truthfully represent the Product, which it breached.
- 142. This duty was non-delegable, and based on Defendant's position, holding itself out as having special knowledge and experience in this area, the leading name in almonds, trusted by consumers to make and sell almond products truthfully.
 - 143. Defendant's representations and omissions regarding the Product went beyond the

specific representations on the packaging, as they incorporated the extra-labeling promises and commitments to quality, transparency and putting customers first, that it has been known for.

- 144. These promises were outside of the standard representations that other companies may make in a standard arms-length, retail context.
- 145. The representations took advantage of consumers' cognitive shortcuts made at the point-of-sale and their trust in Defendant.
- 146. Plaintiff and class members reasonably and justifiably relied on these negligent misrepresentations and omissions, which served to induce and did induce, their purchase of the Product.
- 147. Plaintiff and class members would not have purchased the Product or paid as much if the true facts had been known, suffering damages.

Fraud

- 148. Defendant misrepresented and/or omitted the attributes and qualities of the Product, that it was made in a smokehouse instead of having added liquid smoke flavor, even though it was not made in a smokehouse.
- 149. Moreover, the records Defendant is required to maintain, and/or the information inconspicuously disclosed to consumers, provided it with actual and constructive knowledge of the falsity and deception, through statements and omissions.
 - 150. Defendant knew of the issues described here yet did not address them.
- 151. Defendant's fraudulent intent is evinced by its knowledge that the Product was not consistent with its representations.

Unjust Enrichment

152. Defendant obtained benefits and monies because the Product was not as represented and expected, to the detriment and impoverishment of Plaintiff and class members, who seek restitution and disgorgement of inequitably obtained profits.

Jury Demand and Prayer for Relief

Plaintiff demands a jury trial on all issues.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment:

1. Declaring this a proper class action, certifying Plaintiff as representative and the

undersigned as counsel for the class;

2. Entering preliminary and permanent injunctive relief by directing Defendant to correct the

challenged practices to comply with the law;

3. Injunctive relief to remove, correct and/or refrain from the challenged practices and

representations, and restitution and disgorgement for members of the class pursuant to the

applicable laws;

4. Awarding monetary damages, statutory and/or punitive damages pursuant to any statutory

claims and interest pursuant to the common law and other statutory claims;

5. Awarding costs and expenses, including reasonable fees for Plaintiff's attorneys and

experts; and

6. Other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated: February 19, 2023

Respectfully submitted,

/s/Spencer Sheehan

Sheehan & Associates, P.C.

60 Cuttermill Rd Ste 412 Great Neck NY 11021

(516) 268-7080

spencer@spencersheehan.com

CIVIL COVER SHEET

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the

purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.) Place an "X" in the appropriate box (required): ☐ Green Bay Division ☒ Milwaukee Division I. (a) PLAINTIFFS **DEFENDANTS** Igor Zapadinsky, individually and on behalf of all others Blue Diamond Growers similarly situated (b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff Walworth County of Residence of First Listed Defendant (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES) IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED. (c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Attorneys (If Known) Sheehan & Associates, P.C., 60 Cuttermill Rd Ste 412 Great Neck NY 11021 (516) 268-7080 II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an "X" in One Box Only) III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintiff (For Diversity Cases Only) and One Box for Defendant) □ 1 U.S. Government ☐ 3 Federal Question DEF PTF DEF ☐ 1 Incorporated or Principal Place \Box 4 \Box 4 Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of This State **☑** 1 of Business In This State \square 2 Incorporated and Principal Place □ 2 U.S. Government ☑ 4 Diversity Citizen of Another State \square 2 □ 5 **7** 5 of Business In Another State (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III) Citizen or Subject of a \square 3 ☐ 3 Foreign Nation \Box 6 \Box 6 Foreign Country IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an "X" in One Box Only) Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions . CONTRACT FORFEITURE/PENALTY OTHER STATUTES BANKRUPTCY PERSONAL INJURY □ 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY 375 False Claims Act ☐ 625 Drug Related Seizure □ 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 ☐ 120 Marine ☐ 310 Airplane ☐ 365 Personal Injury of Property 21 USC 881 □ 423 Withdrawal □ 376 Qui Tam (31 USC) □ 130 Miller Act □ 315 Airplane Product Product Liability ☐ 690 Other 28 USC 157 3729(a)) ☐ 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability ☐ 367 Health Care/ 400 State Reapportionment INTELLECTUAL □ 320 Assault, Libel & ☐ 150 Recovery of Overpayment Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS ☐ 410 Antitrust & Enforcement of Judgmen Slander Personal Injury 430 Banks and Banking 820 Copyrights ☐ 151 Medicare Act ☐ 330 Federal Employers' Product Liability 450 Commerce 830 Patent ☐ 152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability ☐ 368 Asbestos Personal 460 Deportation 835 Patent-Abbreviated ☐ 340 Marine Student Loans Injury Product □ 470 Racketeer Influenced and New Drug Application (Excludes Veterans) □ 345 Marine Product Liability Corrupt Organizations 840 Trademark LABOR PERSONAL PROPERTY ☐ 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability □ 480 Consumer Credit 880 Defend Trade Secrets ☐ 350 Motor Vehicle of Veteran's Benefits (15 USC 1681 or 1692) □ 710 Fair Labor Standards Act of 2016 160 Stockholders' Suits ☐ 355 Motor Vehicle ☐ 371 Truth in Lending 485 Telephone Consumer Act ☐ 720 Labor/Management □ 190 Other Contract ☐ 380 Other Personal Product Liability Protection Act SOCIAL SECURITY ☐ 195 Contract Product Liability ☐ 360 Other Personal Property Damage Relations 490 Cable/Sat TV 861 HIA (1395ff) □ 196 Franchise Injury ☐ 385 Property Damage ☐ 740 Railway Labor Act □ 850 Securities/Commodities/ 862 Black Lung (923) ☐ 362 Personal Injury -Product Liability ☐ 751 Family and Medical Exchange 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) Medical Malpractice 890 Other Statutory Actions Leave Act 864 SSID Title XVI □ 891 Agricultural Acts REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS ☐ 790 Other Labor Litigation 865 RSI (405(g)) ☐ 791 Employee Retirement 893 Environmental Matters □ 210 Land Condemnation ☐ 440 Other Civil Rights **Habeas Corpus:** Income Security Act 895 Freedom of Information ☐ 441 Voting ☐ 463 Alien Detainee □ 220 Foreclosure FEDERAL TAX S UITS Act 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment ☐ 442 Employment ☐ 510 Motions to Vacate 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff □ 896 Arbitration ☐ 240 Torts to Land ☐ 443 Housing/ Sentence or Defendant) 899 Administrative Procedure ☐ 530 General Accommodations ☐ 245 Tort Product Liability □ 871 IRS—Third Party Act/Review or Appeal of IMMIGRATION ☐ 290 All Other Real Property □ 445 Amer. w/Disabilities ☐ 535 Death Penalty 26 USC 7609 Agency Decision Other: Employment ☐ 462 Naturalization Application □ 950 Constitutionality of ☐ 446 Amer. w/Disabilities 540 Mandamus & Other ☐ 465 Other Immigration State Statutes ☐ 550 Civil Rights Other Actions ☐ 448 Education П 555 Prison Condition 560 Civil Detainee Conditions of Confinement V. ORIGIN (Place an "X" in One Box Only) Original □ 2 Removed from \square 3 Remanded from □ 4 Reinstated or ☐ 5 Transferred from ☐ 6 Multidistrict □ 8 Multidistrict Proceeding State Court Appellate Court Reopened Another District Litigation -Litigation -(specify) Transfer Direct File Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity): 28 U.S.C. § 1332 VI. CAUSE OF ACTION Brief description of cause: False advertising VII. REQUESTED IN CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND \$ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint: **COMPLAINT:** UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P. JURY DEMAND: ✓ Yes □ No VIII. RELATED CASE(S) (See instructions): IF ANY DOCKET NUMBER JUDGE DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD February 19, 2023 /s/ Spencer Sheehan

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY Filed 02/19/23 Page 1 of 1 Case 2:23-cv-00231 Document 1-1 RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP **JUDGE** MAG_IUDGE

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Eastern District of Wisconsin

Igor Zapadinsky, individually and on behalf of others similarly situated,	all))))					
Plaintiff(s)						
	Civil Action No. 2:23-cy-00231					
v.) CIVII ACIIOII No. 2.23-CV-00231					
Blue Diamond Growers,)))					
Defendant(s)						
Dejenaam(s)	,					
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION						
To: (Defendant's name and address) Blue Diamond Gr c/o C T Corporati 330 N Brand Blvc Glendale CA 912	on System d Ste 700					
A lawsuit has been filed against you.						
are the United States or a United States agency, or at P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or	s on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you n officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, ates, P.C., 60 Cuttermill Rd Ste 412 Great Neck NY 11021					
If you fail to respond, judgment by default vector You also must file your answer or motion with the co	vill be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.					
	CLERK OF COURT					
Date:						
<u> </u>	Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk					

Civil Action No. 2:23-cv-00231

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

	This summons for (n	name of individual and title, if ar	ny)				
was rec	ceived by me on (date)		<u> </u>				
	☐ I personally serve	ed the summons on the ind	lividual at (place)				
	_ i personany serve		on (date)	; or			
	☐ I left the summon	s at the individual's reside	ence or usual place of abode with (name)	=			
	, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides th						
	on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or						
	·	nons on (name of individual)			, who is		
	designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)						
			on (date)	; or			
	☐ I returned the sum	nmons unexecuted because	e		; or		
	□ Other (<i>specify</i>):						
	(-p						
	My fees are \$	for travel and S	\$ for services, for a total of \$				
	T.1. 1. 1.	1, 6					
	I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.						
Б.							
Date:		_	Server's signature				
		-	Printed name and title				
		_	Server's address				

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc: